A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.Y. a/k/a Royal Philips Electronics N.Y. 

("KPNY"), Philips Electronics Industries (Taiwan), Ltd. ("PTL"), Panasonic 

Corporation f/k/a Matsushita Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., 1Hitachi Displays, Ltd. 

n/kla Japan Display Inc., Hitachi Asia, Ltd., Hitachi Electronic Devices (USA), 

Inc. ("HED(US)"), LG Electronics, Inc. ("LGEI"), Samsung SOl America, Inc. 

("SOl America"), Samsung SOl Co., Ltd. f/k/a Samsung Display Device Co., Ltd. 

("SOl"), Samsung SOl (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. ("SOl Malysia"), Samsung SOl 

Mexico S.A. de C.Y. ("SOl Mexico"), Samsung SOl Brasil Ltda. ("SOl Brazil"), 

Shenzhen Samsung SOl Co., Ltd. ("SOl Shenzhen"), Tianjin Samsung SOl Co., 

Ltd. ("SOl Tianjin"), appellees below, petition for review of the court of appeals' 

decision identified in Part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

Petitioners seek review of the published opinion issued by the Court of 

Appeals for Division I in the case of State of Washington, et al. v. LG Electronics, 

Inc., et al., No. 70298-0-1, 2015 WL 158858, on January 12, 2015 (attached as 

Appendix A). Petitioners have previously filed a petition for review from another 

court of appeals' decision in the same underlying case, and that petition is 

currently pending in this Court in State of Washington v. LG Electronics, et al., 

No. 91263-7. 



C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether Washington courts may properly exercise personal jurisdiction 

over nonresident component-part manufacturers solely because the 

manufacturers knew that other companies would incorporate those parts 

into products that would eventually be sold in meaningful quantities in 

Washington. 

2. Whether, in considering a motion to dismiss under CR 12(b )(2), the court 

of appeals erred by refusing to consider uncontested affidavits that 

contradicted the bare jurisdictional allegations in the complaint, an 

approach in conflict with precedents from Division I and Division II and 

inconsistent with federal law. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Plaintiff, the State of Washington, alleges in its complaint that Defendants 

violated the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") by "conspiring to suppress and 

eliminate competition by agreeing to raise prices in the market for cathode ray 

tubes, commonly referred to as CRTs," in violation of RCW 19.86.030 (attached 

as Appendix B). CP 2, 27. The State did not allege a conspiracy to affect the 

price of the finished products that incorporate CRTs, such as televisions and 

computer monitors. 

The State also did not allege that any conspiratorial activity occurred in 

Washington. CP 17-25. Instead, the State sought to establish personal 

jurisdiction over Petitioners by alleging that they sold CRTs "into [the] 

2 



international stream of commerce" with the "knowledge, intent and expectation" 

that such CRTs would be incorporated into CRT products to be sold by other third 

parties to consumers "throughout the United States, including in Washington 

State." CP 13. 

Petitioners moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. 1 CP 29-

208. Petitioners argued that the State had not alleged sufficient facts to support 

personal jurisdiction and submitted affidavits detailing their virtually total 

absence of contacts with Washington. CP 40-42, 56-64, 84-86, 104-06, 203-06. 

For example, these affidavits establish that Petitioners manufactured and sold 

CRTs entirely outside of Washington, with two narrow exceptions: (1) KPNV' s 

affidavit reveals that it is merely a holding company and does not manufacture or 

sell anything, CP 1 05; and (2) the affidavits for SOl, SOl Mexico, and SOl 

Malaysia establish that they shipped CRT component parts to a single 

Washington manufacturer, CP 206. The State did not contest any ofthe affidavits. 

The trial court agreed with Petitioners and granted their motions to 

dismiss. CP 616-34. The trial court recognized that placing a product into the 

stream of commerce, without more, is not sufficient to confer personal 

jurisdiction over the Petitioners: "[J]ust put[ting] it into the stream of commerce 

throughout the country is not enough." Hr'g Tr. 57 (attached as Appendix C). 

1 A number of other defendants in the case, including many domestic entities in the same 
corporate families as Petitioners, did not challenge Washington's personal jurisdiction over them. 

3 



The trial court correctly observed that the State was "really advocating for an 

expansion, or a change in the law.'' Hr'g Tr. 58. 

The court of appeals reversed. The court first refused to consider the 

uncontested affidavits. Op. at 7-I3. It then invoked Justice Breyer's concurrence 

in J Mcintyre Machinery, Ltd. v. Nicastro, I3I S. Ct. 2780 (20 II), to fashion a 

new and far-reaching rule for personal jurisdiction. Op. at I3-3I. The court held 

that Washington courts could exercise personal jurisdiction over Petitioners 

because other companies incorporated their component parts into finished 

products that were later sold in meaningful quantities in Washington: "[W]e hold 

that because a product manufactured by these foreign corporations was sold-as 

an integrated component part of retail consumer goods-into Washington in high 

volume over a period of years, the corporations 'purposefully' established 

'minimum contacts' in Washington ... [and] exercise [of personal jurisdiction] 

would not offend notions of 'fair play and substantial justice."' Op. at 2. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. The court of appeals misinterpreted recent United States 
Supreme Court precedent to work a sea change in personal
jurisdiction law 

The court of appeals vastly extended Washington's view of personal 

jurisdiction based on its mistaken belief that the Court's divided opinion in J 

Mcintyre announced a new, more expansive doctrine of personal jurisdiction. 

The court of appeals read J Mcintyre as sanctioning personal jurisdiction over a 

foreign component-part manufacturer "if the incidence or volume of [completed-
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product] sales into a forum points to something systematic-as opposed to 

anomalous." Op. at 24. But none of the Justices endorsed that extreme view. 

The court of appeals' aggressive approach to personal jurisdiction contravenes 

any reasonable interpretation of J. Mcintyre, as numerous courts have recognized. 

a. The pre-./. Mcintyre state of personal
jurisdiction law 

I. J. Mcintyre is the latest in the United States Supreme Court's long 

line of cases on specific personal jurisdiction. The Court has explained that the 

Due Process Clause limits the reach of a forum state's jurisdiction over 

nonresident defendants. Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 471-72 

(1985). The "constitutional touchstone" of this analysis is "whether the defendant 

purposefully established 'minimum contacts' in the forum State." Id. at 474. 

"[T]here [must] be some act by which the defendant purposefully avails itself of 

the privilege of conducting activities within the forum State, thus invoking the 

benefits and protections of its laws." Id. at 475 (quoting Hanson v. Denckla, 357 

U.S. 235, 253 (1958)). And the "litigation [must] result[] from alleged injuries 

that 'arise out of or relate to' those activities." I d. at 4 72 (quoting Helicopteros 

Nacionales de Colombia, SA. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408,414 (1984)). Additionally, 

the assertion of personal jurisdiction must "comport with 'fair play and substantial 

justice."' Id. at 476 (quoting Int'l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 320 

(1945)). 

The Court has been clear that the contacts must be made by the defendant: 

"Jurisdiction is proper ... where the contacts proximately result from actions by 
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the defendant himself that create a "substantial connection" with the forum State." 

/d. at 4 75. "[U]nilateral activity of another party or a third person is not an 

appropriate consideration .... " Helicopteros, 466 U.S. at 417. For example, a 

"seller of chattels[']" "amenability to suit ... [does not] travel with the chattel," 

such that a buyer's unilateral actions bringing the chattel into the forum state 

creates personal jurisdiction over the seller. World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. 

Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 296 (1980). 

2. In Asahi Metal Industry Co. v. Superior Court of California, 

Solano County, 480 U.S. 102 (1987), the Court considered the precise question 

presented here: whether "the mere awareness on the part of a foreign defendant 

that the components it manufactured, sold, and delivered outside the United States 

would reach the forum State in the stream of commerce" satisfies the 

constitutional "minimum contacts" test for personal jurisdiction. /d. at 105. 

Asahi was a Japanese valve assembly manufacturer who had delivered valve 

assemblies to a tube manufacturer, Cheng Shin, in Taiwan, who then sold those 

tubes worldwide, including in California. /d. at 1 06. 

The United States Supreme Court unanimously agreed that California 

could not exercise personal jurisdiction over Asahi, but the Justices split four-to

four over the appropriate test for establishing minimum contacts, with Justice 

Stevens taking no position on the issue. Writing for four Justices, Justice 

O'Connor favored the "stream-of-commerce plus" theory of personal jurisdiction. 

Under this approach, minimum contacts requires "something more" than "a 
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defendant's awareness that the stream of commerce may or will sweep the 

product into the forum State." !d. at 111-12. The defendant must also 

purposefully direct his conduct towards the forum state, such as by "designing the 

product for the market in the forum State[ or] advertising in the forum State." !d. 

Because Asahi had not targeted California, it did not have the minimum contacts 

with California required for personal jurisdiction. !d. at 112-13. 

Justice Brennan, also writing for four Justices, focused on foreseeability 

rather than targeted conduct. He rejected the need for an additional showing 

beyond a defendant placing goods in the stream of commerce with the awareness 

that "the regular and anticipated flow of products from manufacture to 

distribution to retail sale" would bring the product to the forum state. !d. at 117 

(Brennan, J., concurring in judgment). Justice Brennan thus concluded that 

"Asahi's regular and extensive sales of component parts to a manufacturer it knew 

was making regular sales of the final product in California" established minimum 

contacts. !d. at 121.2 

Asahi left much confusion in its wake. Many courts adopted Justice 

O'Connor's stream-of-commerce plus test, while others preferred Justice 

Brennan's approach. See Todd David Peterson, The Timing of Minimum 

Contacts, 79 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 101, 119-20 (2010). 

2 Justice Brennan went on to conclude "that the exercise of personal jurisdiction over Asahi in this 
case would not comport with 'fair play and substantial justice."' Asahi, 480 U.S. at 116. Thus, 
the Court was unanimous in holding that personal jurisdiction could not be exercised over Asahi. 
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This Court has never analyzed the issue in any depth. The closest it came 

was in Grange Insurance Association v. State, II 0 Wn.2d 752, 757 P.2d 933 

(1988), a case far afield from the foreign component-part manufacturer context 

here. This Court then merely noted the split opinions in Asahi before observing in 

dicta that the issue in the case could be resolved under its own precedent because 

the defendant targeted Washington with specific products-it "knew that these 

particular cows would be immediately shipped into Washington." !d. at 762. 

This Court did note that its pre-Asahi case law tended to find minimum 

contacts when an "out-of-state manufacturer places its products in the stream of 

interstate commerce." !d. at 761. But a closer look at those cases reveal that their 

facts satisfy Justice O'Connor's stream-of-commerce plus approach just as they 

do Justice Brennan's approach. For example, in Smith v. York Food Machinery 

Co., 81 Wn.2d 719, 504 P.2d 782 (1972), the manufacturer defendants 

"advertised in trade magazines circulated here; they mailed literature to potential 

customers here; and, they communicated by telephone and telegraph with food 

processors here." !d. at 723. Thus, Grange did not announce a definitive 

interpretation of Asahi for Washington courts. 

b. Under J. Mcintyre, Washington's assertion of 
personal jurisdiction over Petitioners violates 
due process 

That was the unsettled state of affairs until the United States Supreme 

Court weighed in on the stream-of-commerce issue again in J. Mcintyre, a case 

involving a foreign manufacturer who engaged a distributor to sell its finished 
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products in the United States. 131 S. Ct. at 2789. New Jersey exercised personal 

jurisdiction over the manufacturer based on the fact that at least one of its 

machines ended up in New Jersey and caused injury there. !d. The Supreme 

Court reversed, with a four-Justice plurality and a two-Justice concurrence 

carrying the day. !d. at 2785-94. 

The court of appeals interpreted J. Mcintyre as adopting Justice Brennan's 

approach in Asahi, Op. at 18-24 & n.23, but that gets the Court's holding 

precisely backwards. The best view of the Court's holding is that it adopted 

Justice O'Connor's stream-of-commerce plus theory of personal jurisdiction. The 

most that can be argued in the other direction is that J. Mcintyre preserved the 

status quo on the issue. But there is no reasonable argument supporting the court 

of appeals' conclusion that J. Mcintyre adopted Justice Brennan's stream-of

commerce approach, which none ofthe Justices endorsed. 

1. Justice Kennedy's four-Justice plurality opinion in J. Mcintyre 

explicitly rejects Justice Brennan's foreseeability-based approach to personal 

jurisdiction: "Justice Brennan's concurrence ... is inconsistent with the premises 

of lawful judicial power." 131 S. Ct. at 2789. The personal jurisdiction question 

is instead one of authority and sovereignty: "The question is whether a defendant 

has followed a course of conduct directed at the society or economy existing 

within the jurisdiction of a given sovereign, so that the sovereign has the power to 

subject the defendant to judgment concerning that conduct." !d. Accordingly, 

merely placing items into the stream of commerce, without some purposeful 
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direction towards the forum state, is insufficient to establish personal jurisdiction: 

"The defendant's transmission of goods permits the exercise of jurisdiction only 

where the defendant can be said to have targeted the forum .... " !d. at 2788. 

Thus, Justice Kennedy adopted a theory of personal jurisdiction that was 

"consistent with Justice O'Connor's opinion in Asahi," although one based more 

explicitly in notions of authority and sovereignty. Applying that test, Justice 

Kennedy concluded that New Jersey could not exercise personal jurisdiction 

because the manufacturer had not "engaged in conduct purposefully directed at 

New Jersey" when it shipped its finished products to an Ohio distributor who in 

turn targeted the United States as a whole. !d. at 2790. 

Justice Breyer's two-Justice concurrence in the judgment echoed the 

plurality's concern about a foreseeability-based approach. He rejected the view 

that "a producer is subject to jurisdiction for a products-liability action so long as 

it 'knows or reasonably should know that its products are distributed through a 

nationwide distribution system that might lead to those products being sold in any 

of the fifty states."' !d. (citation omitted). But he also shied away from adopting 

the plurality's sovereignty-based theory, expressing concern that the facts did not 

present any of the "many recent changes in commerce and communication" that 

complicate jurisdictional questions. !d. at 2791; see also id. at 2793. Justice 

Breyer instead concluded that the facts of the case-a foreign manufacturer 

engaging a distributor to sell its machines in the United States, resulting in one 

sale to the forum state-would not support jurisdiction under any of the Court's 
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precedents, including both O'Connor's and Brennan's Asahi opinions, and thus he 

felt no need to take a firm position on the plurality's approach. !d. at 2791-92. 

2. The court of appeals somehow concluded from these opinions that 

the J Mcintyre Court adopted Justice Brennan's approach to personal jurisdiction, 

a view no Justice endorsed. Op. at 18-24 & n.23. Because no opinion commands 

a majority, the Court's holding "may be viewed as that position taken by those 

Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds." Marks v. 

United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977) (citation omitted). That does not mean 

that a court must choose among the available opinions and apply one to the 

exclusion of the others: "This inquiry ... does not require us to determine a 

single opinion which a majority joined, but rather determine the 'legal standard 

which, when applied, will necessarily produce results with which a majority of the 

Court from that case would agree.'" State v. Hickman, 157 Wn. App. 767, 774, 

238 P.3d 1240 (20 1 0) (citation omitted). 

In J Mcintyre, both the plurality and the concurrence expressed 

reservations about a foreseeability-based approach and adopted positions 

consistent with Justice O'Connor's stream-of-commerce plus test. The plurality 

went further and announced a new sovereignty-based theory of personal 

jurisdiction, while the concurrence hesitated to make any broad pronouncements. 

But the two opinions overlap in their toleration of Justice O'Connor's test: the 

plurality by adopting an approach "consistent with Justice O'Connor's opinion in 

Asahi," J Mcintyre, 131 S. Ct. at 2790, and the concurrence by applying Justice 
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O'Connor's requirement of "something more" than placing goods in the stream of 

commerce, id. at 2792. Therefore, the stream-of-commerce plus test is the law 

going forward. See Smith v. Teledyne Cont'/ Motors, Inc., 840 F. Supp. 2d 927, 

931 (D.S.C. 2012); N. Ins. Co. of N.Y. v. Constr. Navale Bordeaux, No. 11-60462-

CV, 2011 WL 2682950, at *5 (S.D. Fla. July 11, 2011); see also Williams v. 

Romarm, SA, 756 F.3d 777, 785 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (interpreting J. Mcintyre to 

require "facts showing [the foreign manufacturer] targeted the District or its 

customers in some way"). 

Petitioners are not subject to personal jurisdiction in Washington under 

that test. The State has alleged none of the "plus" factors needed to demonstrate 

targeting of the Washington market. Nor did the court of appeals identify any 

such plus factors. 

Another plausible reading of J. Mcintyre is that the Court's holding simply 

maintains ofthe status quo ante. See In re Chinese-Manufactured Drywall Prods. 

Liab. Litig., 753 F.3d 521, 541 (5th Cir. 2014); AFTG-TG, LLC v. Nuvoton Tech. 

Corp., 689 F.3d 1358, 1363 (Fed. Cir. 2012). This approach elevates to a holding 

of the Court Justice Breyer's statements that "resolving this case requires no more 

than adhering to our precedents" and that "this is an unsuitable vehicle for making 

broad pronouncements that refashion basic jurisdictional rules." J. Mcintyre, 131 

S. Ct. at 2792-93. 

Under this reading of J. Mcintyre, the jurisdictional issue in this case 

would tum on whether Washington follows the O'Connor or Brennan approach 

12 



from Asahi. Because this Court has not resolved that issue, the court of appeals 

would have had to choose between those approaches to resolve this case. 

Rather than follow either of these plausible interpretations of J. Mcintyre, 

the court of appeals instead settled on the erroneous view that the Court adopted 

Justice Brennan's foreseeability approach. Op. at 18-24 & n.23. The court of 

appeals supported this holding with snippets of Justice Breyer's concurrence in 

which he explains that the facts would not support jurisdiction even under the 

Brennan test. 3 Op. at 22-23. 

But even the dissent in J. Mcintyre did not adopt the Brennan test. It 

instead focused on Mcintyre's efforts to market its products in the United States 

and specifically distinguished the case from pure stream-of-commerce cases like 

Asahi: "Asahi, unlike Mcintyre UK, did not itself seek out customers in the 

United States, it engaged no distributor to promote its wares here, it appeared at 

no tradeshows in the United States, and, of course, it had no Web site advertising 

its products to the world." 131 S. Ct. at 2803 (Ginsburg, J ., dissenting). And 

particularly relevant here, the dissent pointed out the different considerations at

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