RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Apr 13, 2015, 2:12 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 91391-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

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

IV. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Standard Of Review

This Court will grant review only if one or more of the factors in RAP 13.4(b) are present. Because the Court of Appeals decision is consistent with state law, raises no significant question of constitutional law, and involves no issue of substantial public interest, review should be denied.

B. The Court Of Appeals Decision Is Consistent With Precedent

Defendants claim that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the case of *J. McIntyre Machinery, Ltd. v. Nicastro*, __ U.S. __, 131 S. Ct. 2780, 180 L. Ed. 2d 765 (2011) to impose a new rule of personal jurisdiction. To the contrary, and as the Court of Appeals explains in good detail, *J. McIntyre* is no more than a continuation of previous case law which the Court of Appeals properly applied.

1. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Pre-J. McIntyre Law

The Court of Appeals relied heavily upon pre-J. McIntyre case law to establish that Defendants have purposefully availed themselves in Washington State by releasing hundreds of millions of their CRTs into the stream of commerce with the expectation and intent that a significant

number be incorporated into finished products to be sold in Washington. A non-resident manufacturer purposefully avails itself of a forum state where it delivers its products into the stream of commerce with the *expectation* that they will be purchased by consumers in the forum state. *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286, 297-98, 100 S. Ct. 559, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980); *Grange Ins. Ass'n v. State*, 110 Wn.2d 752, 761-62, 757 P.2d 933 (1988) (stating, "[t]his court has decided that purposeful minimum contacts are established when an out-of-state manufacturer places its products in the stream of interstate commerce"). This is a fundamental concept relied upon by the Court of Appeals. Op. at 17.

This rule does not authorize jurisdiction where the sale of a product is merely an isolated occurrence. Rather, if the sale "arises from the efforts of the manufacturer or distributor to serve directly or indirectly, the market for its products in other States, it is not unreasonable to subject it to suit in one of those States if its allegedly defective merchandise has there been the source of injury to its owner or to others." World-Wide Volkswagen, 444 U.S. at 297-98. This standard rests not on the mere foreseeability that a product may find its way into the forum state. Rather, it is whether a defendant's conduct and connection with the forum state are such that they should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there. Id. at 297. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that this

standard is satisfied here; price-fixed CRTs made their way into Washington not through "unpredictable currents or eddies, but [through] the regular and anticipated flow of products from manufacturer to distribution to retail sale." Asahi Metal Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Superior Court of California, Solano Cy., 480 U.S. 102, 117, 107 S. Ct. 1026, 94 L. Ed. 2d 92 (1987) (Brennan, J., concurring in part).

World-Wide Volkswagen clarified that mere foreseeability that a product may find its way into a forum is insufficient for the exercise of personal jurisdiction. 444 U.S. at 297. That holding is too easily taken out of the context of that case to suggest that no matter how many products are released into the stream of commerce, and no matter how predictable and intentional it is that those products will reach a certain state, that as long as a middleman is utilized the defendant is immune from personal jurisdiction. This reading does a disservice to World-Wide Volkswagen and is not supported by case law.

World-Wide Volkswagen implicitly recognizes that the scope of a foreseeable market is necessarily broader "with respect to manufacturers and primary distributors of products who are at the start of a distribution system . . . who . . . derive economic benefit from a wider market . . . [and that] [s]uch manufacturers and distributors purposely conduct their activities to make their product available for purchase in as many forums

as possible." Nelson by Carson v. Park Indus., Inc., 717 F.2d 1120, 1125-26 (7th Cir. 1983) (citing World-Wide Volkswagen, 444 U.S. at 297-98).

Here, Defendants' products did not arrive in this forum through a fortuitous occurrence, or through the unilateral actions of a consumer, or even through foreseeable yet unintended means. Defendants' products arrived as a result of their deliberate attempts and plans to sell their products to as broad a market as possible, including Washington State. Defendants' conduct is precisely the type of conduct that *World-Wide Volkswagen*, and the many courts that have applied its lessons, acknowledge creates a "connection with the forum State . . . such that [they] should reasonably anticipate being haled into court there." *World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S. at 297.

Defendants argue that the Court of Appeals wrongly abandoned the "something more" requirement. This is not so. The phrase "something more" is invoked in Justice O'Connor's plurality opinion in *Asahi*. 480 U.S. at 108-113. In *Asahi*, a fractured Court offered competing views on whether a Japanese tire valve manufacturer, whose single product was incorporated into a tire sold in California, had engaged in purposeful minimum contacts. Four justices, led by Justice O'Connor, held that purposeful minimum contacts could not be established absent a showing of "something more" – additional conduct indicating intent or purpose to

serve the specific forum state (an analysis now known as "stream of commerce plus"). *Id.* at 112. In contrast, four justices reasoned that purposeful minimum contacts were satisfied under *World-Wide Volkswagen* because the manufacturer had placed its good into the stream of commerce and indirectly benefited from the "regular and anticipated flow of products" into the forum state. *Id.* at 117 (Brennan, J., concurring).

Asahi produced no majority, leaving the stream-of-commerce framework established in World-Wide Volkswagen intact. Indeed, the Washington Supreme Court recognized as much in Grange, which was decided after Asahi. The Grange Court was in a unique position to assess the impact of the U.S. Supreme Court's competing stream of commerce opinions on Washington case law. Grange, 110 Wn.2d at 761. After acknowledging the disparity between World-Wide Volkswagen and Asahi, Grange resolved the questions left unanswered in Asahi by stating:

There seems to be no similar split of authority within this state's courts, at least as far as nonresident manufacturers and retailers are concerned. This court has decided that purposeful minimum contacts are established when an out-of-state manufacturer places its products in the stream of interstate commerce, because under those circumstances it is fair to charge the manufacturer with knowledge that its conduct might have consequences in another state.

Grange, 110 Wn.2d at 761.

2. The Court Of Appeals Properly Applied J. McIntyre

The U.S. Supreme Court's most recent decision on stream of commerce is *J. McIntyre*, 131 S. Ct. 2780. In *J. McIntyre*, a foreign manufacturer was sued in New Jersey state court after a worker was injured by one of the defendant's defective metal-shearing machines. At most, four of the manufacturer's machines had been sold into New Jersey, including the defective machine. Justice Kennedy led four justices in holding that a New Jersey court could not exercise jurisdiction under a pure stream of commerce theory. *Id.* at 2790. Justice Breyer concurred, noting that the facts disclosed neither a "'regular . . . flow' or 'regular course' of sales in New Jersey," nor was there "'something more,' such as special state-related design, advertising, [etc]." *Id.* at 2792. (Breyer, J., concurring).² Thus, Justice Breyer concluded that jurisdiction was not appropriate under either Justice O'Connor's or Justice Brennan's plurality opinion in *Asahi*, nor under *World-Wide Volkswagen*.

Since J. McIntyre did not win a majority, "the holding of the Court may be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds." Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193, 97 S. Ct. 990, 51 L. Ed. 2d 260 (1988) (citing Gregg v.

² Defendants are mistaken when they claim that Justice Breyer adopted the "something more" standard exclusively. As the Court of Appeals noted, Justice Breyer found that jurisdiction required something more *or* a regular flow or regular course of sales in the forum state. Op. at 22.

Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 169 n.15, 96 S. Ct. 2909, 2923, 49 L. Ed. 2d 859 (1976)). Most courts applying the *Marks* rule to *J. McIntyre* have concluded that Justice Breyer's opinion was the judgment that concurred "on the narrowest grounds" and is therefore the controlling opinion. *See, e.g., State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 403 S.W.3d 726, 756 (Tenn. 2013) ("This does strike us as the narrower of the two majority holdings, and, therefore, it is the controlling opinion under Marks.").

The Court of Appeals followed this line of precedent and found Justice Breyer's concurrence and its application of pre-*J. McIntyre* case law to be controlling. After stating that the outcome in *J. McIntyre* should be "determined by [the Supreme Court's] precedents," rather than making a new pronouncement that would "refashion basic jurisdictional rules," Justice Breyer went on to explain that his conclusion was based on the fact that "[n]one of our precedents finds that a single isolated sale, even if accompanied by the kind of sales effort indicated here, is sufficient." *J. McIntyre*, 131 S. Ct. at 2792 (Breyer, J., concurring). As outlined by the Court of Appeals, this case is the very antithesis of such a single-product case.

Defendants claim that the Court of Appeals, in actuality, adopted Justice Brennan's concurrence from *Asahi* as controlling in this matter. That is not true. The Court of Appeals only mentions Justice Brennan's

concurrence once briefly in a footnote. The Court of Appeals was clear: "Consistent with our recent decision in *AU Optronics*, we conclude that Justice Breyer's concurring opinion represents the more narrow ground of decision and is, thus, the Court's holding," (citing *State v. AU Optronics Corp.*, 180 Wn. App. 903, 919, 328 P.3d 919 (2014)). Op. at 18 n.21.

After *J. McIntyre* was decided, courts have continued to uphold personal jurisdiction over foreign manufacturers that have targeted the U.S. market. An example is *Willemsen v. Invacare Corp.*, 352 Or. 191, 282 P.3d 867 (2012), which has now been adopted on multiple occasions by the Court of Appeals. Op. at 22. In *Willemsen*, the Oregon Supreme Court upheld the exercise of personal jurisdiction over a Taiwanese corporation that manufactured component battery chargers used in wheelchairs. The defendant's only contacts with Oregon were that its batteries were incorporated in 1,102 motorized wheelchairs sold in Oregon over a two-year period.

The Oregon Supreme Court held that the exercise of personal jurisdiction was proper. *Willemsen*, 282 P.3d at 877. The defendant argued that it could not have purposefully availed itself of doing business in Oregon because it had simply sold batteries to a third party, and the mere fact it may have expected its component part to end up in Oregon was insufficient to support jurisdiction under *J. McIntyre*. The court rejected

that argument, finding that the defendant's conduct constituted a "regular ... flow' or 'regular course' of sales" in Oregon. *Id.* (quoting *J. McIntyre*, 131 S. Ct. at 2792 (Breyer, J., concurring)).

Like the defendant in *Willemsen*, Defendants here sold products over several years to companies that sought to market and sell those products nationally and in Washington. But the extent of Defendants' conduct vastly exceeds the conduct in *Willemsen*. *Cf. Asahi*, 480 U.S. at 122 (Stevens, J., concurring in part and concurring in judgment) ("the volume, the value, and the hazardous character of a good may affect the jurisdictional inquiry."). Defendants sold hundreds of millions of CRTs directly and indirectly through sales channels targeting the United States. Just the State itself purchased a very large number of CRT products, vastly exceeding the 1,102 chargers that supported jurisdiction in *Willemsen*. CP 14. These sales arise precisely from Defendants delivering goods in the stream of commerce with the expectation that they will be purchased by Washington users. *See J. McIntyre*, 131 S. Ct. at 2792 (Breyer, J., concurring) (citing *World-Wide Volkswagen*, 444 U.S. at 297-98). These sales show a regular flow or regular course of sales in Washington.

Not only does the Court of Appeals decision not conflict with precedent, but it adheres closely to factually similar cases. The court relied upon the recent opinion in *AU Optronics*, another analogous price-fixing

case, in finding that, "[a]fter closely examining *J. McIntyre*, we held that the foreign manufacturer's alleged violation of the CPA 'plus a large volume of expected and actual sales established sufficient minimum contacts for a Washington court to exercise specific jurisdiction over it," (citing *AU Optronics*, 180 Wn. App. at 924). Op. at 25.

C. The Exercise Of Jurisdiction Does Not Offend Traditional Notions Of Fair Play And Substantial Justice

State law provides a remedy for consumers in this case that does not exist under federal law. The Consumer Protection Act recognizes that Washington's indirect purchasers—the consumers who purchased finished electronics containing Defendants' consumer goods price-fixed products—are entitled to recover their wrongfully-taken funds. However, indirect purchasers in Washington have no private right of action; only the State is authorized to bring this action on behalf of indirect-purchaser consumers. RCW 19.86.080(3); Blewett v. Abbott Labs., 86 Wn. App. 782, 790, 938 P.2d 842 (1997). Thus, without the current enforcement action, consumers in Washington are wholly denied the opportunity to obtain relief for Defendants' violations.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the exercise of jurisdiction would not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. The court found that Washington's exercise of jurisdiction is consistent with due process where, "(1) the large volume of

CRT products that entered Washington constituted a regular flow or regular course of sales, (2) the Attorney General's claims arose from the Companies' contacts with Washington because consumers were injured by paying inflated prices as a result of the Companies' price-fixing, and (3) the concern for otherwise remediless consumers and the danger of insulating foreign manufacturers from the reach of Washington antitrust laws outweigh any inconvenience to the Companies." Op. at 27-28.

It is by virtue of the substantial volume of sales that took place in Washington that the Defendants here purposefully availed themselves of the privilege of conducting activities within Washington. Op. at 29. The presence, in large quantity, of the Defendants' products in Washington demonstrates that their contacts were not random, fortuitous, or attenuated. It points to a systematic effort by the Defendants to avail themselves of the privilege of conducting business in Washington. *Id*.

D. The Court Of Appeals Decision Regarding Affidavits Presents No Issue For Review

The Court of Appeals' analysis of the parties' burdens of proof when arguing a CR 12(b)(2) motion is correct and well-founded, but it is not necessary in itself to support its decision regarding personal jurisdiction. Even if the allegations contained in Defendants' affidavits are taken at face value, they do nothing to undermine the basis of the State's

assertions supporting jurisdiction and do nothing to change the Court of Appeals' minimum contacts analysis.

1. Defendants' Affidavits Contain No Dispositive Evidence

The affidavits presented by Defendants in support of their 12(b)(2) motions cover much ground. However, when compared to the State's Complaint, very few of the assertions are relevant and none refute any of the material allegations the State makes in support of jurisdiction. While the State does allege several instances in which various Defendants did have direct contact with the state, the primary underlying basis for personal jurisdiction is the enormous volume of price-fixed products which Defendants placed into the stream of commerce, all with the intent and knowledge that a large number would reach Washington State consumers and businesses. The Defendants intended for Washington state purchasers to pay an illegally inflated price for products containing their CRTs. Defendants intended to obtain ill-gotten gains from those sales. And they did. As the Court of Appeals found, this well constitutes the minimum contacts necessary to exercise personal jurisdiction. Nothing in Defendants' affidavits alters this analysis.

Defendant argue that, even accepting the Court of Appeals' personal jurisdiction analysis, certain Defendants would still have been dismissed below if facts contained in their affidavits were accepted as true.

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